City of Sebastopol

REQUEST FOR STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS

FOR

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR SEBASTOPOL FLOOD RESILIENCY MASTER PLAN

Due Date: June 10, 2025, 5:00 P.M.



PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 714 JOHNSON STREET SEBASTOPOL, CA 95472

Phone: 707-823-5331 Fax: 707-823-4721

Approved for Release:

Mark Rincon, P.E.

Public Works Director, City Engineer

City of Sebastopol Date: May 27, 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| INTRODUCTION | . 1 |
|-----------------------------|-----|
| EXPECTED SCOPE OF SERVICES | . 1 |
| STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS | . 1 |
| EVALUATION CRITERIA | . 3 |
| SOQ SUBMITTAL INFORMATION | . 3 |
| PRELIMINARY SCHEDULE | . 4 |

ATTACHMENTS

- A. DRAFT AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT
- **B. PROJECT REFERENCES**

See City website at https://www.cityofsebastopol.gov/

- 1. 2005 Storm Drain Master Plan
- 2. City of Sebastopol Storm Drain System Map, 2005
- 3. Calder Creek Modifications at Ives Park H&H Modeling Assessment
- 4. Calder Creek Restoration and Vision Summary

INTRODUCTION

The City of Sebastopol has a long history of persistent flooding, with numerous flood disaster declarations associated with flood damage along the Laguna de Santa Rosa. A Storm Drainage Master Plan was prepared for the City in 2005 with a list of storm drain improvements. Some of the improvements were completed, but most were not due to funding constraints. In addition, a Technical Memorandum for the hydrologic and hydraulic modeling assessment for Calder Creek was completed in 2022 that identifies flood reduction alternatives and improvements for the creek. The City is also working with a non-profit group for a grant for the naturalization of Calder Creek. Links to the most pertinent documents will be provided.

The City is embarking on this two-step RFQ process to select a consultant to prepare a Flood Resiliency Master Plan that will prioritize a list of storm drain improvements developed from the master planning effort with special attention to Calder Creek in the Ives Park area that causes significant flooding along Highway 116 and the surrounding area near the Sebastopol Post Office Annex. The project will also include some level of GIS mapping, depending on budget, of the City's storm drain system.

This RFQ is the first step and will determine the most qualified consultants for preparing the Sebastopol Flood Resiliency Master Plan (Plan). Evaluation criteria are listed in Section 5.

Once the most qualified and experienced consultants have been determined through this RFQ process, the City will prepare a Request for Proposals (RFP) and the top three consultants will be invited to submit a Proposal. The City reserves the right to select less than three consultants, depending on the quality of the Statement of Qualifications (SOQ) received.

A copy of this RFQ including all attachments noted in the Table of Contents can be found on the City website www.cityofsebastopol.gov under the Public Works Department Engineering tab.

A single contract will be awarded as a result of this two-step solicitation.

EXPECTED SCOPE OF SERVICES

The City of Sebastopol is seeking to contract with a qualified and experienced engineering firm (Consultant) which is registered to practice in the State of California and has a demonstrated history of experience and excellence in the following areas:

- Hydrologic & Hydraulic (H&H) Analysis and Design
- Geographic Information System Mapping
- Drainage System Master Planning
- Environmental Investigations
- Cost estimating for infrastructure projects
- Engaging the public for input, ideas, and information / community outreach
- Engineering services for future awarded grant applications that are a part of this effort
- Recommendations for grant and financing opportunities

STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS

Teams responding to this RFQ shall provide the following information:

- 1. <u>Cover Letter</u>: Provide a cover letter, including a commitment to this project and certification of accuracy of information submitted. The letter should be signed by a representative of the firm authorized to enter into consultant services agreements. (*1 page maximum*)
 - a. If the firm has a valid Master Agreement for Consulting Services (MSA) with the City, state so in the Cover Letter, and state that you will provide a copy of a current insurance certificate if selected.
 - b. If the firm has an expired MSA with the City, please state so in the Cover Letter and the City will review your previous SOQ and determine if it is still acceptable and will notify you of next steps with respect to the MSA.
 - c. If the firm does not have an MSA with the City, please state so in the Cover Letter. A copy of the City's Professional Services Agreement for Consulting Services (PSA) will be provided to you. In your Cover Letter please state that you are prepared to sign the PSA with no changes to the provisions and that you are prepared to provide the requisite insurance documents if selected.
- 2. <u>Organizational Chart</u>: Provide an organizational chart that shows the team composition, key staff, and all subconsultants. *(1 page maximum)*
 - a. Short resumes or "bios" (maximum one page per key team member) are allowed and may be included in your SOQ Appendix. These resumes will not be counted towards the maximum page count.
- 3. <u>Work History</u>: Provide at least three projects with a similar scope of work that were completed in the last five years. Include the project name, description, location, client, and a contact person to verify the information provided. (2 page maximum)
- 4. <u>Understanding and Experience</u>: Describe your firm's understanding and experience with working on flood mitigation, flood resiliency, and drainage system master planning studies. Include subconsultant experience in this section. (2 page maximum)
- 5. Approach: Prepare a description of your proposed general approach to meeting the City's goal of preparing a Plan including prioritization of projects given the City's funding constraints for implementing capital projects. The Plan should specifically address the persistent flooding in the Calder Creek area and take into consideration the City's desire to naturalize the creek. The City's storm drain system map is not a GIS-system map and was last updated in 2005. Ideally the City would like to have their system map on a GIS system but it funding for this project may not allow this to occur. Your approach should provide suggestions as to how the City could update its system maps, given the City's budget constraints. Your approach should also consider environmental permitting challenges with implementing capital projects. In developing your Approach to the various categories, note that the City's budget for this study is \$150,000. (3 page maximum)
- 6. Outreach: Describe how you would publish the master plan for review by the public or City Council. Provide detail on your team's experience communicating technical deliverables to a non-technical audience and document your team's lessons learned. (1 page maximum)

EVALUATION CRITERIA

The selection of (up to) top three firms who will be invited to submit a Proposal will be based on the following evaluation criteria:

| CRITERIA | MAX POINTS | POINTS AWARDED | | | | | |
|--|---------------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Experience and Qualifications (40 max) | | | | | | | |
| Previous relevant plans/studies | 10 | | | | | | |
| Key Team members | 10 | | | | | | |
| GIS mapping | 10 | | | | | | |
| Environmental assessments | 5 | | | | | | |
| Project cost estimating | 5 | | | | | | |
| Project Approach (60 max) | | | | | | | |
| Clarity of Overall and Approach | 15 | | | | | | |
| Citywide flood resiliency approach | 10 | | | | | | |
| Calder Creek naturalization approach | 10 | | | | | | |
| Master drainage planning approach | 15 | | | | | | |
| GIS mapping approach | 10 | | | | | | |
| Total Score (100 max) | 100 | | | | | | |

The selection team for this RFQ will generally consist of the Public Works Director/City Engineer and other City staff, and possibly one Engineer from a neighboring public agency.

SOQ SUBMITTAL INFORMATION

SOQs must take the form of a bound 8- ½ inch by 11-inch report with all pages numbered in sequence. Page limits for each section are provided in the prior sections. Page 1 is the signed cover letter. Cover sheet, dividers and Attachment do not count towards the maximum page count of 10. Usage of maximum number of pages allowed is less valued than clarity when the City reviews and ranks your SOQ. Please use Arial 10 font with half-inch page margins. Binding must allow reports to lay flat when open. Format of the report shall have portrait format with binding on the left side. Contents must be submitted in the order listed in Section 3.

Two (2) original paper copies and one PDF copy emailed to <u>citypw@cityofsebastopol.gov</u> and copy to <u>eoverton@cityofsebastopol.gov</u> by the Due Date stated in Section 6. The paper copies must be received no later than the Due Date and Time stated in Section 6 and delivered to:

Director of Public Works/City Engineer City of Sebastopol 714 Johnson Street Sebastopol, CA 95472

The envelope with the two copies of the SOQ should include a Letter of Transmittal. The Letter of Transmittal is not included in the maximum page count.

City offices are open Mondays-Thursdays 7am – 5:30pm, excluding holidays.

For any questions regarding this RFQ, please email <u>eoverton@cityofsebastopol.gov</u> and copy to <u>tbertolero@cityofsebastopol.gov</u> and <u>citypw@cityofsebastopol.gov</u>. Questions via phone calls will not be accepted.

PRELIMINARY SCHEDULE

Release of RFQ May 28, 2025 Deadline for Emailed Questions: June 6, 2025

SOQ Due Date: June 10, 2025, 5:00 p.m.

SOQ Evaluation Completed June 12, 2025 Short Listed Consultants notified: June 16, 2025

ATTACHMENT A

DRAFT AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

| THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into on | | | | | | | by and between the | | | | | | |
|--|----|-------------|----------|------|-----|--------|--------------------|---------|-------|----|------------|---------|-----|
| City | of | Sebastopol, | located | in | the | County | of | Sonoma, | State | of | California | (City), | and |
| | | (| Consulta | nt). | | | | | | | | | |
| RECITALS: | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

- A. City desires to employ Consultant to furnish professional services in connection with the project described as Professional Audit Services.
- B. Consultant has represented that Consultant has the necessary expertise, experience, and qualifications to perform the required duties.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual premises, covenants, and conditions herein contained, the parties agree as follows:

SECTION 1 – BASIC SERVICES

Consultant agrees to perform the services set forth in **Exhibit A**, "**Scope of Services**" and made part of this Agreement.

SECTION 2 – ADDITIONAL SERVICES

Consultant shall not be compensated for any services rendered in connection with its performance of this Agreement which are in addition to or outside of those set forth in this Agreement or **Exhibit A**, "Scope of Services", unless such additional services and compensation are authorized in advance and in writing by the City Council or City Manager of the City.

SECTION 3 – TIME FOR COMPLETION

The time for completion of services shall be as identified in Exhibit A, "Scope of Services".

SECTION 4 – COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT

- A. Subject to any limitations set forth in this Agreement, City agrees to pay consultant the amount specified in Exhibit A, "Proposed Pricing", attached hereto and made a part hereof. Total compensation shall not exceed a total of \$\\$\$, unless additional compensation is approved in accordance with Section 2.
- B. Consultant shall furnish to City an original invoice for all work performed and expenses incurred during the preceding month. The invoice shall detail charges by the following categories if applicable: labor (by sub-category), travel, materials, equipment, supplies, subconsultant contracts, and miscellaneous expenses. City shall independently review each invoice submitted to determine whether the work performed, and expenses incurred are in compliance with the provisions of this Agreement. If no charges or expenses are disputed, the invoice shall be approved and City will use its best efforts to cause Consultant to be paid within 30 days of receipt of invoice. If any charges or expenses are disputed by City, the original invoice shall be returned by City to

Consultant for correction and resubmission. If the City reasonably determines, in its sole judgment, that the invoiced charges and expenses exceed the value of the services performed to date and that it is probable that the Agreement will not be completed satisfactorily within the contract price, City may retain all or a portion of the invoiced charges and expenses. Within thirty (30) days of satisfactory completion of the project, City shall pay the retained amount, if any, to Consultant.

C. Payment to the Consultant for work performed pursuant to this Agreement shall not be deemed to waive any defects in work performed by Consultant.

SECTION 5 – STANDARD OF PERFORMANCE

Consultant represents and warrants that it has the qualifications, experience and facilities necessary to properly perform the services required under this Agreement in a thorough, competent and professional manner. Consultant shall at all times faithfully, competently and to the best of its ability, experience and talent, perform all services described herein. In meeting its obligations under this Agreement, Consultant shall employ, at a minimum, generally accepted standards and practices utilized by persons engaged in providing services similar to those required of Consultant under this Agreement.

SECTION 6 - INSPECTION AND FINAL ACCEPTANCE

City may inspect and accept or reject any of Consultant's work under this Agreement, either during performance or when completed. City shall reject or finally accept Consultant's work within sixty (60) days after submitted to City, unless the parties mutually agree to extend such deadline. City shall reject work by a timely written explanation, otherwise Consultant's work shall be deemed to have been accepted. City's acceptance shall be conclusive as to such work except with respect to latent defects and fraud. Acceptance of any of Consultant's work by City shall not constitute a waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement including, but not limited to, the sections pertaining to indemnification and insurance.

SECTION 7 – INSURANCE REQUIRED

Consultant shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the Consultant, its agents, representatives, or employees.

MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMIT OF INSURANCE

Coverage shall be at least as broad as:

- 1. Commercial General Liability (CGL): Insurance Services Office Form CG 00 01 covering CGL on an "occurrence" basis, including products and completed operations, property damage, bodily injury, and personal & advertising injury with limits no less than \$2,000,000 per occurrence. If a general aggregate limit applies, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to this project/location (ISO CG 25 03 or 25 04) or the general aggregate limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit.
- 2. Automobile Liability: Insurance Services Office Form Number CA 0001 covering, Code 1 (any auto), or if Consultant has no owned autos, Code 8 (hired) and 9 (non-owned), with limit no less than \$1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and property damage.

- 3. Workers' Compensation insurance, as required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, and Employer's Liability Insurance with limit of no less than \$1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury or disease. (Not required if consultant provides written verification that it has no employees)
- 4. Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions) Insurance appropriates to the Consultant's profession, with limit no less than \$2,000,000 per occurrence or claim, \$2,000,000 aggregate. The Retroactive Date must be shown and must be before the date of the contract or the beginning of contract work. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least five (5) years after completion of the contract of work. If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made policy form with a Retroactive Date prior to the contract effective date, the Consultant must purchase "extended reporting" coverage for a minimum of five (5) years after completion of contract work. A copy of the claims reporting requirements must be submitted to the City of Sebastopol for review.

If the Consultant maintains broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums shown above, the City of Sebastopol requires, and shall be entitled to, the broader coverage and/or higher limits maintained by the Consultant. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be available to the City of Sebastopol.

Other Insurance Provisions

The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions: The City of Sebastopol, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers are to be covered as additional insureds on the CGL policy with respect to liability arising out of work or operations performed by or on behalf of the Consultant including materials, parts, or equipment furnished in connection with such work or operations.

General liability coverage can be provided in the form of an endorsement to the Consultant's insurance at least as broad as one of the following ISO ongoing operations Forms: CG 20 10 or CG 20 26 or CG 20 33 (not allowed from subcontractors), or CG 20 38; and one of the following ISO completed operations Forms: CG 20 37, 2039 (not allowed from subcontractors), or CG 20 40.

Primary Coverage

For any claims related to this contract, the Consultant's insurance coverage shall be primary insurance coverage at least as broad as ISO CG 20 01 04 13 as respects the City of Sebastopol, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the City of Sebastopol, its officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of the Consultant's insurance and shall not contribute with it.

Notice of Cancellation

Consultant shall provide immediate written notice if (1) any of the required insurance policies is terminated; (2) the limits of any of the required polices are reduced; (3) or the deductible or self-insured retention is increased. In the event of any cancellation or reduction in coverage or limits of any insurance, Consultant shall forthwith obtain and submit proof of substitute insurance.

Waiver of Subrogation

Consultant hereby grants to the City of Sebastopol a waiver of any right to subrogation which any insurer of said Consultant may acquire against the City of Sebastopol by virtue of the payment of any loss under such insurance. Consultant agrees to obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of whether or not the City of Sebastopol has received a waiver of subrogation endorsement from the insurer. However, the Workers' Compensation policy shall be endorsed with a waiver of subrogation in favor of the City of Sebastopol for all work performed by the Contractor, its employees, agents, and subcontractors.

Self-Insured Retentions

Self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by the City of Sebastopol. The City of Sebastopol may require the Consultant to provide proof of ability to pay losses and related investigations, claim administration, and defense expenses within the retention. The policy language shall provide, or be endorsed to provide, that the self-insured retention may be satisfied by either the named insured or the City of Sebastopol.

Acceptability of Insurers

Insurance is to be placed with insurers authorized to conduct business in the state with a current A.M. Best's rating of no less than A:VII, unless otherwise acceptable to the City of Sebastopol.

Verification of Coverage

Consultant shall furnish the City of Sebastopol with original Certificates of Insurance including all required amendatory endorsements (or copies of the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by this clause) and a copy of the Declarations and Endorsement Page of the CGL policy listing all policy endorsements to the City of Sebastopol before work begins. However, failure to obtain the required documents prior to the work beginning shall not waive the Consultant's obligation to provide them. The City of Sebastopol reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, including endorsements required by these specifications, at any time.

Subcontractors

Consultant shall require and verify that all subcontractors maintain insurance, meeting all the requirements stated herein, and Contractor shall ensure that the City of Sebastopol is an additional insured on insurance required from subcontractors.

Special Risks or Circumstances

The City of Sebastopol reserves the right to modify these requirements, including limits, based on the nature of the risk, prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other special circumstances.

SECTION 8 – INDEMNIFICATION

Consultant shall indemnify and hold harmless City, its agents, officers, officials, employees, and volunteers from any and all claims, demands, suits, loss, damages, injury, and/or liability (including any and all costs and expenses in connection therewith), incurred by reason of any negligent or otherwise wrongful act or omission of Consultant, its officers, agents, employees and subcontractors, or any of them, under or in connection with this Agreement; and Consultant

agrees at its own cost, expense and risk to defend any and all claims, actions, suits, or other legal proceedings brought or instituted against City, its agents, officers, officials, employees and volunteers, or any of them, arising out of such negligent or otherwise wrongful act or omission, and to pay and satisfy any resulting judgments.

When Consultant under this Agreement is duly licensed under California Business and Professions Code as an architect, landscape architect, professional engineer, or land surveyor ("design professional"), the provisions of this section regarding Consultant's duty to defend and indemnify apply only to claims that arise out of or relate to the negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of the design professional.

If any action or proceeding is brought against Indemnitees by reason of any of the matters against which Consultant has agreed to indemnify Indemnitees as provided above, Consultant, upon notice from City, shall defend Indemnitees at Consultant's expense by counsel acceptable to City, such acceptance not to be unreasonably withheld. Indemnitees need not have first paid for any of the matters to which Indemnitees are entitled to Indemnification in order to be so indemnified. The insurance required to be maintained by Consultant shall ensure Consultant's obligations under this section, but the limits of such insurance shall not limit the liability of Consultant hereunder. The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement.

The provisions of this section do not apply to claims to the extent occurring as a result of the City's sole negligence or willful acts or misconduct.

SECTION 9 - INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS

- A. Consultant is and shall at all times remain a wholly independent contractor and not an officer, employee, or agent of City. Consultant shall have no authority to bind City in any manner, nor to incur an obligation, debt or liability of any kind on behalf of or against City, whether by contract or otherwise, unless such authority is expressly conferred under this Agreement or is otherwise expressly conferred in writing by City.
- B. The personnel performing the services under this Agreement on behalf of Consultant shall at all times be under Consultant's exclusive direction and control. Neither City, nor any elected or appointed boards, officers, officials, employees or agents of City, shall have control over the conduct of Consultant or any of Consultant's officers, employees or agents, except as set forth in this Agreement. Consultant shall not at any time or in any manner represent that Consultant or any of Consultant's officers, employees or agents are in any manner officials, officers, employees or agents of City.
- C. Neither Consultant, nor any of Consultant's officers, employees or agents, shall obtain any rights to retirement, health care or any other benefits which may otherwise accrue to City's employees. Consultant expressly waives any claim Consultant may have to any such rights.

SECTION 10 – CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

A. Consultant covenants that neither it, nor any officer or principal of its firm, has or shall acquire any interest, directly or indirectly, which would conflict in any manner with the interests of City or which would in any way hinder Consultant's performance of services under this Agreement. Consultant further covenants that in the performance of this Agreement, no person

having any such interest shall be employed by it as an officer, employee, agent, or subcontractor without the express written consent of the City Manager. Consultant agrees to at all times avoid conflicts with the interests of City in the performance of this Agreement.

B. City understands and acknowledges that Consultant is, as of the date of execution of this Agreement, independently involved in the performance of non-related services for other governmental agencies and private parties. Consultant is aware of any stated position of City relative to such projects. Any future position of City on such projects shall not be considered a conflict of interest for purposes of this section.

SECTION 11 – OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS

- A. All original maps, models, designs, drawings, photographs, studies, surveys, reports, data, notes, computer files, files and other documents prepared, developed or discovered by Consultant in the course of providing any services pursuant to this Agreement shall become the sole property of City and may be used, reused or otherwise disposed of by City without the permission of the Consultant. When requested by City, but no later than three years after project completion, Consultant shall deliver to City all such original maps, models, designs, drawings, photographs, studies, surveys, reports, data, notes, computer files, files and other documents.
- B. All copyrights, patents, trade secrets, or other intellectual property rights associated with any ideas, concepts, techniques, inventions, processes, improvements, developments, works of authorship, or other products developed or created by Consultant during the course of providing services (collectively the "Work Product") shall belong exclusively to City. The Work Product shall be considered a "work made for hire" within the meaning of Title 17 of the United States Code. Without reservation, limitation, or condition, Consultant hereby assigns, at the time of creation of the Work Products, without any requirement of further consideration, exclusively and perpetually, any and all right, title, and interest Consultant may have in the Work Product throughout the world, including without limitation any copyrights, patents, trade secrets, or other intellectual property rights, all rights of reproduction, all rights to create derivative works, and the right to secure registrations, renewals, reissues, and extensions thereof.

SECTION 12 - CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION; RELEASE OF INFORMATION

- A. All information gained or work product produced by Consultant in performance of this Agreement shall be considered confidential, unless such information is in the public domain or already known to Consultant. Consultant shall not release or disclose any such information or work product to persons or entities other than City without prior written authorization from the City Manager, except as may be required by law.
- B. Consultant, its officers, employees, agents or subcontractors, shall not, without prior written authorization from the City Manager or unless requested by the City Attorney of City, voluntarily provide declarations, letters of support, testimony at depositions, response to interrogatories or other information concerning the work performed under this Agreement. Response to a subpoena or court order shall not be considered "voluntary" provided consultant gives City notice of such court order or subpoena.
- C. If Consultant, or any officer, employee, agent, or subcontractor of Consultant, provides any information or work product in violation of this Agreement, then City shall have the right to

reimbursement and indemnity from Consultant for any damages, costs and fees, including attorney's fees, caused by or incurred as a result of Consultant's conduct.

D. Consultant shall promptly notify City should Consultant, its officers, employees, agents or subcontractors be served with any summons, complaint, subpoena, notice of deposition, request for documents, interrogatories, request for admissions or other discovery request, court order or subpoena from any party regarding this Agreement and the work performed thereunder. City retains the right, but has no obligation, to represent Consultant or be present at any deposition, hearing or similar proceeding. Consultant agrees to cooperate fully with City and to provide City with the opportunity to review any response to discovery requests provided by Consultant. However, this right to review any such response does not imply or mean the right by City to control, direct, or rewrite such response.

SECTION 13 – SUSPENSION OF WORK

City may, at any time, by ten (10) days written notice suspend further performance by Consultant. All suspensions shall extend the time schedule for performance in a mutually satisfactory manner and Consultant shall be paid for services performed and reimbursable expenses incurred prior to the suspension date.

SECTION 14 – COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

Consultant shall keep itself informed of and comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, statutes, codes, ordinances, regulations and rules in effect during the term of this Agreement. Consultant shall obtain any and all licenses, permits and authorizations necessary to perform the services set forth in this Agreement. Neither City, nor any elected or appointed boards, officers, officials, employees or agents of City, shall be liable, at law or in equity, as a result of any failure of Consultant to comply with this section.

SECTION 15 – COMPLIANCE WITH CIVIL RIGHTS

During the performance of this contract, Consultant agrees as follows:

- A. Equal Employment Opportunity. In connection with the execution of this Agreement, Consultant shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, ancestry, age, sexual orientation, physical handicap, medical condition, marital status, sex, or national origin. Such actions shall include, but not be limited to, the following: employment, promotion, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rate of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for training including apprenticeship.
- B. <u>Nondiscrimination Civil Rights Act of 1964</u>. Consultant will comply with all federal regulations relative to nondiscrimination to federally-assisted programs.
- C. <u>Solicitations for Subcontractors including Procurement of Materials and Equipment</u>. In all solicitations, either by competitive bidding or negotiations, made by Consultant for work to be performed under a subcontract, including procurement of materials or leases of equipment, each potential subcontractor, supplier, or lessor shall be notified by Consultant of Consultant's obligations under this Agreement and the regulations relative to nondiscrimination.

SECTION 16 - RECORDS

- A. Records of Consultant's direct labor costs, payroll costs, and reimbursable expenses pertaining to this project covered by this Agreement will be kept on a generally recognized accounting basis and made available to City if and when required for a period of up to 3 years from the date of Consultant's final invoice.
- B. Consultant's records and design calculations will be available for examination and audit if and as required. The cost of any reproductions shall be paid by City.

SECTION 17 – COOPERATION BY CITY

All public information, data, reports, records, and maps as are existing and available to City as public records, and which are necessary for carrying out the work as outlined in the Exhibit A, "Scope of Services", shall be furnished to Consultant in every reasonable way to facilitate, without undue delay, the work to be performed under this Agreement.

SECTION 18 - NOTICES

All notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be personally delivered, or sent by facsimile or first class mail, addressed as follows:

To City: City Manager

7120 Bodega Ave

Sebastopol, California 95472

To Consultant: Consultant Name

Address

City, State, Zip Code

Notice shall be deemed effective on the date personally delivered or transmitted by facsimile, or, if mailed, three (3) days after deposit in the custody of the U.S. Postal Service.

SECTION 19 – TERMINATION

City may terminate this Agreement, with or without cause, at any time by giving ten (10) days written notice of termination to Consultant. If such notice is given, Consultant shall cease immediately all work in progress.

If either Consultant or City fail to perform any material obligation under this Agreement, then, in addition to any other remedies, either Consultant, or City may terminate this Agreement immediately upon written notice.

Upon termination of this Agreement by either Consultant or City, all property belonging to City which is in Consultant's possession shall be delivered to City. Consultant shall furnish to City a final invoice for work performed and expenses incurred by Consultant, prepared as set forth in this Agreement.

SECTION 20 – ATTORNEY FEES

If litigation or other proceeding is required to enforce or interpret any provision of this Agreement, the prevailing party in such litigation or other proceeding shall be entitled to an award of reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and expenses, in addition to any other relief to which it may be entitled. In addition, any legal fees, costs and expenses incurred to enforce the provisions of this Agreement shall be reimbursed to the prevailing party.

SECTION 21 – ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement, including the attached Exhibits, is the entire, complete, final and exclusive expression of the parties with respect to the matters addressed therein and supersedes all other agreements or understandings, whether oral or written, or entered into between Consultant and City prior to the execution of this Agreement. No statements, representations or other agreements, whether oral or written, made by any party which are not embodied herein shall be valid and binding unless in writing duly executed by the parties or their authorized representatives.

SECTION 22 – SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

This Agreement shall be binding on the heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns of the parties. However, this Agreement shall not be assigned by Consultant without written consent of the City.

<u>SECTION 23 – CONTINUITY OF PERSONNEL</u>

Consultant shall make every reasonable effort to maintain the stability and continuity of Consultant's staff assigned to perform the services required under this Agreement. Consultant shall notify City of any changes in Consultant's staff assigned to perform the services required under this Agreement, prior to any such performance.

SECTION 24 – DEFAULT

In the event that Consultant is in default under the terms of this Agreement, the City shall not have any obligation or duty to continue compensating Consultant for any work performed after the date of default and may terminate this Agreement immediately by written notice to Consultant.

SECTION 25 – WAIVER

Waiver by any party to this Agreement of any term, condition, or covenant of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of any other term, condition, or covenant. Waiver by any party of any breach of the provisions of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of any other provision, nor a waiver of any subsequent breach or violation of any provision of this Agreement. Acceptance by City of any work or services by Consultant shall not constitute a waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

<u>SECTION 26 – LAW TO GOVERN; VENUE</u>

This Agreement shall be interpreted, construed and governed according to the laws of the State of California. In the event of litigation between the parties, venue in state trial courts shall lie exclusively in the County of Sonoma. In the event of litigation in a U.S. District Court, venue shall lie exclusively in the Northern District of California, in San Francisco.

SECTION 27 – SEVERABILITY

If any term, condition or covenant of this Agreement is declared or determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby and the Agreement shall be read and construed without the invalid, void or unenforceable provision(s).

SECTION 28 - SPECIAL PROVISIONS

This Agreement is subject to the following special provisions: none.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have accepted, made, and executed this Agreement upon the terms, conditions, and provisions above stated, the day and year first above written.

| Consultant: | City: |
|----------------------|---------------------|
| Ву: | By: |
| Name: | Name: |
| Title: | Title: City Manager |
| Date: | Date: |
| Approved as to Form: | |
| Alas ala | |
| Name: Alex Mog | |
| Title: City Attorney | |

ATTACHMENT B

PROJECT REFERENCES

See City website at https://www.cityofsebastopol.gov/

- 1. 2005 Storm Drain Master Plan
- 2. City of Sebastopol Storm Drain System Map, 2005
- 3. Calder Creek Modifications at Ives Park H&H Modeling Assessment
- 4. Calder Creek Restoration and Vision Summary